
 CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 
 Office: 608/364-6700 • Fax: 608/364-6609 
 www.beloitwi.gov 
 Equal Opportunity Employer 

 
MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 

BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION 
Tuesday, November 17, 2015, 7:00 PM 

Beloit Public Library, North Meeting Room, 605 Eclipse Blvd 
 

1. Roll Call 

 

2. Minutes of the October 20, 2015 Meeting 

 

3. Public Comments 

 

4. Chris Gallagher – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-52 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness for the 

replacement of windows on a residential structure located at 259 St. Lawrence Avenue. 

 

5. Beloit Family Services – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-49 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness for a memorial 

garden in Horace White Park located at 825 East Grand Avenue. 

 

6. Scott Muth – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-47 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness various repairs on 

a detached carriage house located at 736 Bluff Street. 

 

7. David and Dana Carper – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-48 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness for masonry work 

on the front entrance of the residential structure located at 951 Bluff Street. 

 

8. Report on Staff-Approved Certificates of Appropriateness & Activities Since Last Meeting 

 

9. Committee Reports 

 A. Education & Outreach Committee 

 B. Grant Writing Committee 

 C.  Site Visit Committee 

 

10. Adjournment 
 
If you are unable to attend this meeting, notify the Planning Office at 364-6700 no later than 4:00 PM 
the day before the meeting. 
    
Approved: Alex Morganroth, Planner 
   November 5, 2015 
 

**  Please note that upon reasonable notice, at least 24 hours in advance, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of 

disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional information or to request this service, please 

contact the City Clerk's Office at 364-6680, 100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511. 
 



 CITY HALL • 100 STATE STREET • BELOIT, WI 53511 
 Office: 608/364-6700 • Fax: 608/364-6609 
 www.beloitwi.gov 
 Equal Opportunity Employer 

 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION 

Tuesday, October 20, 2015, 7:00 PM 
Beloit Public Library, North Meeting Room, 605 Eclipse Blvd 

 

1. Roll Call 

 Commissioner Blazer called the meeting to order at 7:04pm. 

 Commissioners Blazer, Johnson, Vater, Truesdale, Kelly, and Vollmer were present. 

 Commissioners Joyce and Kaye were absent. 

 

2. Minutes of the October 20, 2015 Meeting 

Commissioners Blazer and Johnson moved to approve the minutes as presented. Motion 

carried, voice vote.  

 

3. Public Comments:  
Rick McGrath (1747 Sherwood Drive SW) reminded the Commissioners that the Downtown 

Business Association is holding a workshop on October 21, 2015 to review the new 

downtown design guidelines produced by Angus Young and Associates. 

 

4. Imperial Builders – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-42 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to allow a 

new railing on a second-story porch at 348 Euclid Avenue. 

 

Mr. Morganroth read the staff report and recommendation.  

 

Mr. Morganroth explained to the Commission that the applicant, Mr. Derek Card of Imperial 

Builders, had proposed reshaping the top rail in order to make the railing appear more 

historically appropriate. Mr. Card confirmed that he planned to modify the existing rail. 

 

Commissioner Vater asked Mr. Card to explain the copper lights installed on top of the porch 

columns. Mr. Regard replied that the lights were installed by the owner after he finished the 

project. 

 

Commissioner Vater asked Mr. Card if the railing could be painted to match the trim on the 

house. Mr. Card replied that the owner would be willing to paint the railing and balusters 

white using an oil-based stain. 

 



Commissioner Vollmer made a motion to amend the COA to add two conditions of approval: 

the railing will be modified to match the drawing provided by the applicant, and the railing 

will be painted/stained to match the trim on the house. Commissioner Vater seconded the 

motion. Motion carried, voice vote. 

 

Commissioner Vater made a motion to approve the amended COA, subject to the conditions 

recommended by staff and added by the Commission.  Commissioner Blazer seconded the 

motion. Motion carries, voice vote. 

 

5. Chris Gallagher – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-40 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to allow the 

installation of vinyl windows, clapboard repair/replacement, and porch baluster replacement 

on a residential structure located at 259 St. Lawrence Avenue. 

 

Mr. Morganroth read the staff report and recommendation. 

 

The applicant, Mr. Chris Gallagher, addressed the Commission and clarified that he was 

seeking approval to replace 32 windows, not six as Mr. Morganroth stated in his report. 

Mr. Gallager explained each project to the Commission and emphasized that he would use 

materials identical to the existing for both the siding and porch slat repairs/replacement. Mr. 

Gallager also emphasized that he would not be replacing any of the small, decorative 

windows on the house. 

 

Commissioner Blazer and Mr. Gallager discussed the large price difference between vinyl 

and wood window replacements and whether or not it was accurate. They also discussed the 

cost and viability of using sash replacement kits. Commissioner Blazer explained to Mr. 

Gallager that they could not consider the window replacement project until the Commission 

could see estimates for sash replacement kits. 

 

Commissioner Blazer made a motion to amend the COA by striking the window project. 

Commissioner Johnson seconded the motion. Motion carried, voice vote.  

 

Commissioner Vater made a motion to approve the amended COA, subject to the conditions 

recommended by staff. Commissioner Vollmer seconded the motion. Motion carried, voice 

vote. 

 

6. Lori Dunaway – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-41 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to allow a 

sign on the rear of the commercial structure located at 312 State Street. 

 

Mr. Morganroth read the staff report and recommendation. 

 

Commissioner Truesdale made a motion to approve the COA as written, subject to the 

conditions recommended by staff. Commissioner Vollmer seconded the motion. Motion 

carried, voice vote. 

 



7. Beloit Family Services – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-39 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to allow a 

memorial garden in Horace White Park located at 825 East Grand Avenue. 

 

Mr. Morganroth read the staff report and recommendations. 

 

The Commission discussed how the garden would be properly maintained and whether or a 

condition could be added in order to guarantee funding for upkeep.   

 

Mr. Morganroth reminded the Commission that multiple parks committees had approved and 

were on-board with the project. Mr. Morganroth also reminded the Commissioners that the 

garden should be evaluated based on the overall design and compatibility with the historic 

park, not the availability of funding mechanisms or future maintenance. 

 

Commissioner Blazer made a motion to approve the COA as written, subject to the 

conditions recommended by staff. Commission Johnson seconded the motion. Motion failed, 

voice vote.  

 

8. Bruce Rhea – Certificate of Appropriateness 

COA-2015-36 Review and consideration of a Certificate of Appropriateness to allow new 

columns on the front porch of the residential structure located at 103 Merrill Street. 

 

Mr. Morganroth read the staff report and recommendations. 

 

Commissioners Truesdale and Vollmer discussed the feasibility of recreating the original 

brackets, as well as reshaping the columns to conform more closely to the original 

architectural style of the porch. 

 

Mr. Morganroth recounted to the Commission his communications with the contractor for the 

project and how the original building permit for a roof did not include permission for any 

work to be done on the porch. 

 

Commissioner Vater made a motion to amend the COA to change the deadline for 

completion from November 1, 2015 to June 1, 2016. Commissioner Vollmer made a friendly 

amendment to add two conditions: the new brackets will be identical to the original brackets 

in architectural style, and the pillars will have grooves added and the top beveled in order to 

substantially conform to the architectural style of the original pillars. Commissioner Blazer 

seconded the motion to amend the COA. Motion carried, voice vote. 

 

Commissioner Vollmer made a motion to approve the amended COA, subject to the 

conditions recommended by staff and added by the Commission. Commissioner Johnson 

seconded the motion. Motion carried, voice vote. 

 

 

 



9. Report on Staff-Approved Certificates of Appropriateness & Activities Since Last 

Meeting 

Mr. Morganroth announced that four COAs were approved by staff since the last meeting. He 

stated that the staff-approved COAs included a new roof at 749 Harrison Avenue, a new roof 

and sidewalk at 239 St. Lawrence Avenue, a new roof a 657 Bluff Street, and glass blocks in 

a basement window at 847 Park Avenue. 

 

10. Committee Reports 

Education and Outreach Committee: Commissioner Johnson recounted the neighborhood 

meeting at Schellenger Park she set up to try and engage with residents in the Bluff Street 

Neighborhood.  

 

Grant Writing Committee: None 

 

Site Visit Committee: Commissioner Vollmer recounted the Site Visit Committee’s 

inspections at the subject properties. 

 

11. Adjournment 

Commissioners Vollmer and Johnson moved to adjourn at 8:12pm. Motion carried, voice 

vote. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Alex Morganroth, Planner 

 Date Approved: November 12, 2015 

 

 

 



COA-2015-52, 259 St. Lawrence Ave

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION

Meeting Date: November 17, 2015 Agenda Item: 4 File Number: COA-2015-52

Applicant: Chris Gallagher Owner: Scott Wiedner Location: 259 St. Lawrence Avenue

Existing Zoning: R-1B Single-Family
Residential District

Existing Land Use: Single-family
Residential

Parcel Size: .2 Acres

Request Overview:
Chris Gallagher submitted an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness replace the sashes on twelve windows on
the residential structure located at 259 St. Lawrence Avenue. This property is in the Bluff Street Historic District Section
32.05 of the Historic Preservation Ordinance grants the Landmarks Commission the authority to issue a Certificate of
Appropriateness prior to the construction, reconstruction, or exterior alteration of any designed landmark, landmark site, or
structure within an historic district.

Background:
The Commission reviewed a COA application submitted by the applicant at the October 20, 2015 meeting. The applicant’s
COA requested permission to replace thirty-two windows, front porch slats, and clapboard repair. The Commission
approved a modified COA that struck the request for the window replacement. The Commission requested the applicant
research additional options for repair or replacement that would not significantly alter the historically significant wood
windows.

Consistency with the Historic Preservation Ordinance and Strategic Plan:
Consideration of this request is consistent with the intent and purpose of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Key Issues:
 The home was constructed in 1889 and is classified as a “Pivotal” structure.
 The applicant has proposed replacing sashes in twelve windows in various locations.

o Four windows in widow’s peak.
o Three dormer windows.
o Three windows in kitchen near back porch.
o One window in dining room.

 The applicant is proposing the installation of new wood sashes from a window-manufacturer in Milwaukee that
specializes in historic window repair and replacement (applicant will clarify company name and additional
specifications for the sashes).

 The home has a number of architecturally significant, multi-paned windows that will not be altered.
o Prior owners have replaced multiple original wood windows with vinyl windows.

 The applicant is not proposing any additional modifications to the windows (confirmation from applicant needed).
 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance includes general review criteria to be used when

evaluating COA applications. The attached COA Checklist evaluates the completed work against the general
review criteria included in the Ordinance.

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance also establishes Specific Review Criteria to be used in
evaluating COA applications. The following criteria are relevant to this application.

(1) Architectural Details: The use of wood replacement sashes is compatible with the character of the
structure and will ensure the historic integrity of the structure is retained.

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Certificate of Appropriateness to allow the
installation of new wood sashes in twelve windows, based on the standards and criteria contained in the Historic



COA-2015-52, 259 St. Lawrence Ave

Preservation Ordinance and subject to the following conditions.
1. The work must be done according to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation.
2. Only twelve sashes may be replaced, with no additional window work being completed without a new COA

review.
3. A Building Permit is required prior to starting work on this project.
4. The project must be completed by November 17, 2016.
5. Any changes or additions to this Certificate of Appropriateness must be reviewed and approved by staff prior to

the start of any work. Work done without prior approval will be subject to the issuance of correction orders or
citations.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location Map, Application, Photos, Estimates, Intensive Survey Form, COA General Criteria Checklist



COA-2015-52, 259 St. Lawrence Ave



COA-2015-52, 259 St. Lawrence Ave



COA-2015-52, 259 St. Lawrence Ave



COA-2015-52, 259 St. Lawrence Ave

Streetview



COA-2015-52, 259 St. Lawrence Ave

Windows (Top – Vinyl, Bottom – Wood)



COA-2015-52, 259 St. Lawrence Ave



COA-2015-52, 259 St. Lawrence Ave



COA-2015-52, 259 St. Lawrence Ave

Planning and Building Services Division

100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 Phone: (608) 364-6700 Fax: (608) 364-6609

For property located at: 259 St. Lawrence Avenue

GENERAL REVIEW CRITERIA
YES NO N/A

Has every reasonable effort been made to provide a compatible use for a
property that requires alteration for use other than for its originally intended
purpose?

X

Will the applicant retain distinguishing original qualities or character of a
building, structure or site? The removal or alteration of any historic material
or distinctive architectural features should be avoided when possible.

The use of wood replacement sashes will allow the applicant to retain the
original character of the windows in the historic structure.

X

Is the applicant proposing alterations that have a historical basis, rather than
trying to create an earlier or later appearance?

X

Has the applicant recognized and respected changes in the development of a
building over time that may have acquired significance in their own right? X
Has the applicant treated with sensitivity distinctive stylistic features, or
examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a building, structure or
site?

X

Has the applicant repaired, rather than replaced, deteriorated architectural
features, wherever possible? If replacement is necessary, the new material
should match the material being replaced in composition, design color, texture
and other visual qualities.

The new wood sashes will be as close to identical as possible with the
existing sashes in order to ensure a consistent look to the house.

X

Has the applicant avoided sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will
damage the surface of the historic building?

X

Has the applicant made every possible effort to protect and preserve
archeological resources affected by or adjacent to any project?

X

If a contemporary design for alterations and additions is proposed, does this
design retain significant historical, architectural or cultural material and is the
design compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the
property and neighborhood?

X

Are new additions or alterations to buildings done in such a manner that if
such additions or alterations were to be removed in the future, the essential
form and integrity of the building would be unimpaired?

X

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS CHECKLIST



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION

Meeting Date: November 10, 2015 Agenda Item: 5 File Number: COA-2015-49

Applicant: Beloit Family Services Owner: City of Beloit Location: 825 E Grand Avenue
(Horace White Park)

Existing Zoning: PLI, Public
Lands/Institutions District

Existing Land Use: Park Parcel Size: 8.0 Acres

Request Overview:
Beloit Family Services submitted an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness for the installation of a memorial
garden in Horace White Park located at 825 E Grand Avenue in the City of Beloit. The memorial garden will be dedicated
to those individuals who have suffered from interpersonal violence. Horace White Park is a historic landmark site. Section
32.05 of the Historic Preservation Ordinance grants the Landmarks Commission the authority to issue a Certificate of
Appropriateness prior to the construction, reconstruction, or exterior alteration of any designed landmark, landmark site, or
structure within an historic district.

Background:
An identical COA application was reviewed by the Landmarks Commission at the October 20, 2015 meeting. The
Commission voted not to approve the request due to maintenance and precedent setting concerns. The applicant
requested a new review to reflect the additional information to be presented by a representative of Beloit Family Services
and City staff.

Consistency with the Historic Preservation Ordinance and Strategic Plan:
Consideration of this request is consistent with the intent and purpose of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Key Issues:
 The applicant has proposed the installation of a memorial garden in Horace White Park.
 A site plan and specification sheets are attached to this report.
 The Parks & Recreation Commission approved the installation of the garden on September 9, 2015.
 A Master Plan, drafted by Design Perspectives Inc, was created in 2009 and shows a sitting area with

landscaping near the proposed location of the garden. However, this plan was never adopted by the City Council.
 The Beloit Parks, Open Space & Recreation Plan 2012-2016 prepared by Design Perspectives Inc, approved by

the City Council in July of 2013, contains a master plan for each park in the city.
o The Horace White Park master plan map recommends a garden area in the location proposed by BFS for

the memorial garden.
 The memorial garden proposal will only be reviewed by the Plan Commission and City Council if approved by the

Landmarks Commission.
 The design for the proposed garden was completed by the City’s Horticultural Specialist and Angus Young &

Associates and includes a pergola, benches, rock sculpture, brick patio area, and a variety of perennial plants.
o The design team has submitted two landscaping options.

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance includes general review criteria to be used when
evaluating COA applications. The attached COA Checklist evaluates the completed work against the general
review criteria included in the Ordinance.

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance also establishes Specific Review Criteria to be used in
evaluating COA applications. The following criteria are relevant to this application.

o (1) Scale: The proposed garden will have a minimal impact on the large, eight acre park and is consistent
with the scale of other architectural and landscape features in the park.

o (2) Architectural Details: The pergola proposed for the garden will complement the existing gazebo at the
center of the park.

o (3) Landscaping: The proposed landscaping in both options is compatible with the existing landscaping in
the park. The park contains numerous flower beds and perennial plants and the garden species would
add additional color and variety to the landscape.

 The review criteria considered by Staff and Landmarks Commission only evaluate the proposed garden based its
overall design and visual compatibility with the historic park.



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Certificate of Appropriateness to install a memorial
garden at Horace White Park, the recommendation in the Parks, Open Space, and Recreation Plan based on the
standards and criteria contained in the Historic Preservation Ordinance and subject to the following conditions:

1. The applicant shall maintain the garden in order to ensure a consistent appearance that does not detract from the
park landscape.

2. The proposed garden must substantially conform to the plans submitted to staff. Any changes in the structures to
be installed in the garden must be approved by staff prior to installation.

3. All work shall be completed by November 17, 2016.
4. Any changes or additions to this Certificate of Appropriateness must be reviewed and approved by staff prior to

the start of any work. Work done without prior approval will be subject to the issuance of correction orders or
citations.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: The Parks and Leisure Service Division anticipates minimal financial costs for the division
as the garden will be maintained primarily by volunteers from Beloit Family Services.

Attachments: Application, Park Master Plan Map (2009), Park Master Plan Map (2012), Project Proposal, COA General
Criteria Checklist



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden

Horace White Park Master Plan, 2009



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden

Pg 144 | Parks, Open Space, and Recreation Plan, 2012 - 2016 | Horace White Park



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden

Landscaping Option A



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden

Landscaping Option B



COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden

Planning and Building Services Division
100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 Phone: (608) 364-6700 Fax: (608) 364-6609

For property located at: 825 E Grand Avenue (Horace White Park)

GENERAL REVIEW CRITERIA
YES NO N/A

Has every reasonable effort been made to provide a compatible use for a
property that requires alteration for use other than for its originally intended
purpose?

X

Will the applicant retain distinguishing original qualities or character of a
building, structure or site? The removal or alteration of any historic material
or distinctive architectural features should be avoided when possible.

The proposed garden will only disturb a small area and will complement the
other landscaping elements that currently exist in the park.

X

Is the applicant proposing alterations that have a historical basis, rather than
trying to create an earlier or later appearance?

X

Has the applicant recognized and respected changes in the development of a
building over time that may have acquired significance in their own right? X
Has the applicant treated with sensitivity distinctive stylistic features, or
examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a building, structure or
site?

X

Has the applicant repaired, rather than replaced, deteriorated architectural
features, wherever possible? If replacement is necessary, the new material
should match the material being replaced in composition, design color, texture
and other visual qualities.

X

Has the applicant avoided sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will
damage the surface of the historic building?

X

Has the applicant made every possible effort to protect and preserve
archeological resources affected by or adjacent to any project?

X

If a contemporary design for alterations and additions is proposed, does this
design retain significant historical, architectural or cultural material and is the
design compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the
property and neighborhood?

The scale of the pergola and garden area is appropriate for the park.

X

Are new additions or alterations to buildings done in such a manner that if
such additions or alterations were to be removed in the future, the essential
form and integrity of the building would be unimpaired?

X

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS CHECKLIST



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street

CITY OF BELOIT
REPORT TO THE BELOIT LANDMARKS COMMISSION

Meeting Date: November 17, 2015 Agenda Item: 6 File Number: COA-2015-47

Applicant: Scott Muth Owner: Scott Muth Location: 736 Bluff Street

Existing Zoning: R-1B Single-Family
Residential District

Existing Land Use: Single-family
Residential

Parcel Size: .2 Acres

Request Overview:
Scott Muth submitted an application for a Certificate of Appropriateness to rehab the carriage house structure on the
residential property located at 736 Bluff Street. This property is in the Bluff Street Historic District. Section 32.05 of the
Historic Preservation Ordinance grants the Landmarks Commission the authority to issue a Certificate of Appropriateness
prior to the construction, reconstruction, or exterior alteration of any designed landmark, landmark site, or structure within
an historic district.

Consistency with the Historic Preservation Ordinance and Strategic Plan:
Consideration of this request is consistent with the intent and purpose of the Historic Preservation Ordinance.
Consideration of this request supports City of Beloit Strategic Goal #5.

Key Issues:
 The applicant has proposed rehabilitating the historic carriage house at the rear of the property.
 The home was constructed in 1895 and was classified as a “contributing” structure in the 1981 Beloit Intensive

Survey.
o The carriage house is not mentioned in the survey.

 According to the applicant, the carriage house is an original accessory building built at the same time as the
house.

 The carriage house features two bays; one covered with a roll-up door that is not original and one covered with a
sliding door that is original.

 The applicant is requesting approval for multiple rehabilitation projects including:
o Replace existing roll-up door with an insulated steel garage door made by Ideal Door (see attached

photo).
o Repair and paint the slider door and hayloft doors to match the siding.
o Re-side the carriage house with white, double 4” vinyl siding.
o The applicant submitted cost estimates for both vinyl and wood siding

 Vinyl | White | Double 4” - $3,700.00
 Wood | White | Double 5” Dutch Lap Siding - $5,700.00

 The applicant is requesting approval to use vinyl due to the lower cost and future maintenance requirements.
 The existing siding on the house is white vinyl installed by a prior owner.
 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance includes general review criteria to be used when

evaluating COA applications. The attached COA Checklist evaluates the completed work against the general
review criteria included in the Ordinance.

 Section 32.06(5) of the Historic Preservation Ordinance also establishes Specific Review Criteria to be used in
evaluating COA applications. The following criteria are relevant to this application.

(1) Architectural Details:
a. Garage Door Replacement – The new garage door will be an significant improvement over

the current garage door with regards to architectural style. The white steel door, decorative
windows, and black decorative handles and spade strap hinges are architecturally compatible
with the style of the historic carriage house.

b. Sliding Door and Hayloft Door Repair – The sliding door and hayloft door will be repaired
with identical materials and painted in order to preserve their uniqueness and architectural
significance.

c. Siding Replacement – The proposed vinyl siding replacement is architecturally compatible
with the original architectural style of the house to a certain degree. From a materials
perspective, vinyl is not an ideal substitute for original wood. However, the style and color of
the proposed siding is compatible with the design guidelines in the Historic Preservation
Guide for Property Owners, which recommends 4” double siding when vinyl is used.



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street

Sustainability:
 Reduce dependence upon fossil fuels – N/A
 Reduce dependence on chemicals and other manufacturing substances that accumulate in nature – N/A
 Reduce dependence on activities that harm life sustaining eco-systems – N/A
 Meet the hierarchy of present and future human needs fairly and efficiently – N/A

Staff Recommendation:
The Planning & Building Services Division recommends approval of a Certificate of Appropriateness for all proposed
projects, including siding replacement, roll-up door replacement, and sliding door hayloft door repair, based on the
standards and criteria contained in the Historic Preservation Ordinance and subject to the following conditions.

1. The work must be completed according to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation.
2. The applicant must preserve as much of the original wood used in the sliding and hayloft doors as possible and

only replace with new wood when repair is not possible.
3. A Building Permit is required prior to starting work on this rehabilitation.
4. All work must be completed by November 17, 2016.
5. Any changes or additions to this Certificate of Appropriateness must be reviewed and approved by staff prior to

the start of any work. Work done without prior approval will be subject to the issuance of correction orders or
citations.

Fiscal Note/Budget Impact: N/A

Attachments: Location Map, Application, Estimates, Photos, Intensive Survey Form, COA General Criteria Checklist



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street



COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street

Planning and Building Services Division
100 State Street, Beloit, WI 53511 Phone: (608) 364-6700 Fax: (608) 364-6609

For property located at: 736 Bluff Street

GENERAL REVIEW CRITERIA
YES NO N/A

Has every reasonable effort been made to provide a compatible use for a
property that requires alteration for use other than for its originally intended
purpose?

X

Will the applicant retain distinguishing original qualities or character of a
building, structure or site? The removal or alteration of any historic material
or distinctive architectural features should be avoided when possible.

The rehabilitation of the sliding door and hayloft door, two distinct
architectural features, will help ensure the long-term preservation of these
important features. The wood siding, a distinguishing original quality, will
not be retained in the applicant’s proposal. However, the replacement 4”
double siding is historically appropriate in every aspect except for type of
material.

X X

Is the applicant proposing alterations that have a historical basis, rather than
trying to create an earlier or later appearance?

X

Has the applicant recognized and respected changes in the development of a
building over time that may have acquired significance in their own right? X
Has the applicant treated with sensitivity distinctive stylistic features, or
examples of skilled craftsmanship that characterize a building, structure or
site?

X

Has the applicant repaired, rather than replaced, deteriorated architectural
features, wherever possible? If replacement is necessary, the new material
should match the material being replaced in composition, design color, texture
and other visual qualities.

The sliding and hayloft doors will be repaired. The siding will be replaced
but will match the original siding in color, texture, and general visual
qualities.

X

Has the applicant avoided sandblasting and other cleaning methods that will
damage the surface of the historic building?

X

Has the applicant made every possible effort to protect and preserve
archeological resources affected by or adjacent to any project?

X

If a contemporary design for alterations and additions is proposed, does this
design retain significant historical, architectural or cultural material and is the
design compatible with the size, scale, color, material and character of the
property and neighborhood?

X

CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS CHECKLIST


	11-17-15.pdf
	10-20-15.pdf
	COA-2015-52, 259 St Lawrence Ave.pdf
	COA-2015-49, 825 E Grand Avenue, Remembrance Garden.pdf
	COA-2015-47, 736 Bluff Street, Carriage House Rehab.pdf

